

# The Missing Piece

Building an Inclusive System of Flexible Financial Support for Workforce Learners

# Contents

Executive Summary	.2
Introduction	5
The Challenge	7
Voices from the Field	8
The Solution	9
Ingredients for Success	10
Postsecondary Education and Training Options in California	12
Current Financial Aid Availability	15
Program Models	22
Recommendations	.30
Conclusion	37
Acknowledgments	37
Appendix A: Report Informants	.38
Endnotes	.39



# **Executive Summary**

California's economy is rapidly evolving, and demand for workers with practical, occupation-specific skills continues to grow. Career education and training programs are essential to meeting this demand, and these programs can offer a direct route to employment in high-demand fields such as healthcare, energy technology and skilled trades. Yet even when tuition is free or reduced, non-tuition costs—housing, food, transportation, childcare and required equipment—pose significant barriers. Without flexible financial support, many learners are unable to complete programs, leaving both workers and employers at a disadvantage.

California offers a wide range of career-focused training opportunities, including community colleges, adult schools, nonprofit community-based programs, apprenticeship programs, and employer-sponsored training. Research consistently shows that when students receive financial support to cover basic living costs, their chances of completing a program and securing stable employment improve significantly. While multiple sources of aid exist—from traditional options like Pell Grants and Cal Grants for community college students, to Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) funds, apprenticeship wages and state-funded sector grants for those outside the college system—each comes with limitations. As a result, a substantial portion of student need remains unmet.



### **Program Models**

There are a wide range of program models designed to reduce financial barriers for learners pursuing career training. Several states have developed grant programs that provide need-based aid not only for tuition but also for living costs. California has also launched sector-focused grants like High Road Training Partnerships (HRTP) and new behavioral health workforce initiatives funded through Proposition 1. Nonprofit programs, including Year Up and Project QUEST, show strong evidence of boosting earnings through stipends and wraparound services, while Guaranteed Basic Income pilots demonstrate potential for improving financial stability and educational persistence.

Beyond grants and stipends, innovative financing strategies such as no-interest loans, income share agreements and training savings accounts have been tested, though evidence of long-term effectiveness is still limited. Employers also play a role through wage-replacement benefits and union partnerships like the SEIU Education Fund. Apprenticeship-focused funding, including California's Equal Representation in Construction Apprenticeship (ERiCA) and California Opportunity Youth Apprenticeship (COYA) grants, provides supplemental support for underrepresented groups such as women and opportunity youth to have access to these programs.

Collectively, these models offer valuable lessons that can inform California's efforts to broaden financial support for learners' living expenses.

### Recommendations

This report identifies two tiers of recommendations: Short-Horizon Strategies that can be implemented quickly with limited cost and Longer-Horizon Strategies that will require greater investment and policy reform.

### Short-Horizon Strategies

- 1. Fully leverage Workforce Pell.
  - → Enact policies that establish clear institutional eligibility standards for Workforce Pell, ensuring students are protected from low-quality programs.
  - Support community colleges to meet federal eligibility requirements.
- 2. Maximize use of the Ability to Benefit (ATB) option to expand Pell Grant access.
  - Incentivize and support colleges to implement ATB, enabling students without a high school diploma to access Pell Grants.
  - Incorporate ATB option into Cal Grant eligibility.
- 3. Ensure behavioral health workforce funds support middle-skill workers.
  - → Shape new Health Care Access and Information (HCAI) programs to meet the financial needs of learners in middle-skill training.
  - Incorporate principles such as flexibility and student-centered design in program structures.



### **Longer-Horizon Strategies**

1. Establish state funding for non-Pell eligible learners.

Create a dedicated source of flexible aid to cover living expenses for students in adult schools, nonprofit programs and noncredit community college programs.

2. Fund Cal Grant modernization and, in the interim, update the Cal Grant C program.

Fully implement the 2022 Cal Grant reforms to simplify and expand access.

→ In the meantime, update Cal Grant C to reduce barriers, increase awareness, and align with living expense needs.

- Emphasize the need for direct student support in future California Workforce Development Board (CWDB) programs.
  - Incorporate adequate funding into future workforce board grant programs to provide stipends, wages and/or supportive services for participants.
- Incentivize employer participation in paid training opportunities for non-incumbent workers.
  - Encourage employers to invest in training to expand the pool of available workers in their industry.
  - Broaden employer participation in apprenticeship programs.
  - → Explore the use of Training-to-Hire Agreements, sector-based stipend funds and payroll tax credits.

California has a strong foundation of training programs and workforce partnerships. By expanding flexible, student-centered financial aid and ensuring quality standards, the state can remove financial barriers that prevent too many learners from completing programs.





# Introduction

As the U.S. economy continues to evolve in response to technological advancement, demographic shifts and changing labor market demands, the importance of postsecondary Career and Technical Education (CTE) and workforce training has grown significantly. Postsecondary CTE and workforce training programs—delivered through community colleges, adult education systems, employer-sponsored programs, apprenticeships and nonprofit organizations—prepare individuals with the practical, occupation-specific skills that employers value. These programs can offer a direct route to employment in high-demand fields such as healthcare, energy technology and skilled trades.

A report from the Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce found that in California, by 2031, over 5.6 million jobs, or 30 percent of all jobs will be "middle skill" positions, those requiring an associate's degree, postsecondary vocational certificate, test-based license, industry certifications or some college but no degree.<sup>1</sup>

Further, nontraditional students, including those age 25 or older, those not enrolling directly after high school or those balancing work and family responsibilities, now constitute the majority of college students.<sup>2</sup> Since short-term certificate programs often fit more easily into the lives of nontraditional students, they can serve as more accessible paths into lucrative career pathways.<sup>3</sup> Research backs up the notion that shorter-term programs fit more easily into the lives of many learners. A study from the Urban Institute found an 18-point difference in completion rates between certificate programs and associate degree programs (57 percent vs. 39 percent).<sup>4</sup>

Finally, individuals who complete postsecondary non-degree training programs tend to experience significantly better labor market outcomes than those with only a high school diploma. According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, workers with a postsecondary non-degree award earn a median weekly income that is approximately 20% higher than high school



graduates without additional education and face lower unemployment rates.<sup>5</sup> And while significant demographic disparities exist among those with similar levels of education, in particular for Black workers, the value of postsecondary training and education holds true across groups.<sup>6</sup> A literature review conducted by the Urban Institute concluded that adults who have completed certificates earn 10 to 20 percent more in the labor market than high school graduates.<sup>7</sup>

The earnings of those with a shorter credential can in some cases even surpass the earnings of those with more advanced degrees. A study from the Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce found that 28 percent of individuals with an associate degree out-earn the median income of bachelor's degree holders over a lifetime, particularly in technical and health-related fields. A Brookings Institution study found that students who earn a technical associate degree can earn up to \$10,000 more annually than peers with academic degrees in low-demand areas.

It is important to recognize, however, that not all training programs deliver the same value. Research shows wide variation in return on investment depending on the field of study and how well the program aligns with local labor market needs. Additionally, credentials held by women and those in female-dominated occupations often yield lower returns than those held by men or workers in male-dominated fields, and wage gains also differ by race and ethnicity. Even within the same field, outcomes can vary significantly—programs offered by for-profit institutions often produce lower, or even negative, returns compared to those at public institutions. Despite this variation, high-quality credential programs in high-demand fields generally remain a worthwhile investment.





# The Challenge

For those newly entering the workforce, seeking career advancement or shifting to a new occupation, career education and training programs may offer a path to economic advancement and job security that is often shorter and less expensive than degree pathways. In a high-cost state such as California, however, the cost of attending these programs can still be prohibitive. Financial aid is often limited, and learners must balance participation in a training program with the need to work to cover basic expenses, often on top of family obligations. Even when programs offer free tuition, covering non-tuition costs such as housing, transportation, food and childcare can be daunting. The cost of required tools, supplies and materials can also be prohibitive and is frequently not covered, or only partially covered, by available financial aid.

According to a 2025 report, more than two-thirds of California Community College student survey respondents reported facing at least one basic needs insecurity, with 46% reporting food insecurity, 58% reporting housing insecurity, and 20% reporting having

been homeless in the past year.<sup>11</sup> A national survey by the Institute for Women's Policy Research found that more than one-third (36 percent) of job training participants struggled to pay their bills, with single mothers (55 percent) and low-income participants earning under \$20,000 a year (39 percent) especially affected. When asked what support they wished they had received, the needs most cited were related to transportation, clothing, housing and childcare.<sup>12</sup> A 2025 report from Gallup and the Lumina Foundation identified the availability of financial aid as a key driver of individuals' decisions about whether to enroll in a degree or credential program.<sup>13</sup>

Experts widely agree that covering costs beyond tuition is essential to expanding access to training and building viable pathways to economic self-sufficiency for low-income households. Because learners' needs vary, emerging best practices emphasize the importance of flexible financial support that can be applied where it is needed most, rather than restricted to a narrow set of expenses.

# Voices from the Field



California's recently released Master Plan for Career Education notes that "Most Californians cannot cover the cost of education and workforce training out of pocket and need financial support to participate."<sup>14</sup>



The California Student Aid Commission's Student Success Blueprint highlights the need for the state to adopt "a **College Affordability Master Plan**, that integrates financial aid, institutional aid, social services and workforce and career readiness resources to better address persistence and success." <sup>15</sup>



The Lifting Children and Families Out of Poverty Task Force Report, commissioned by the California legislature, highlighted that the lack of child care or affordable transportation were the primary reasons many individuals did not complete their vocational training programs.<sup>16</sup>



The Century Foundation noted in a 2024 report that **insufficient funding for WIOA** participants is one of the most significant factors hindering the success of the **program** and urges the provision of stipends to participants to allow training-seekers to easily meet key needs (transportation, rent, food, childcare, etc.).<sup>17</sup>



The National Skills Coalition (NSC) notes that **often the costs which pose the greatest obstacles to access and success are those related to basic living costs.** Allowing financial aid to cover costs beyond tuition can increase the likelihood of credential attainment.<sup>18</sup>



A 2025 JFF report evaluating the Equity Target Population Fund (ETPF) found that **food, housing, transportation and health care barriers hinder success**, and identified stipends for basic needs as a key strategy.<sup>19</sup>



A research summary from Results for America found that "time out of the workforce and lost wages present a significant cost of these programs even when they are heavily subsidized or free. Most research supports that providing financial support like transportation stipends, childcare assistance, and housing support can significantly mitigate these barriers."<sup>20</sup>



# The Solution

Concrete evidence exists that the provision of financial support to address non-tuition costs, including food, housing, transportation and childcare can have measurable impacts on student success. For example:

- → A review of an experimental program to offer
  Pell Grants to students attending very short-term
  credential programs found that program completion
  increased by 9 percentage points for students offered
  a Pell Grant to pay for a short-term occupational
  training program.<sup>21</sup>
- → A 2020 qualitative evaluation of a highway construction workforce development program in Oregon reported that participants who received financial assistance for housing, transportation, equipment and childcare largely indicated they would have been unable to complete the program absent such support.<sup>22</sup>
- → In a study examining California Community College student data, nearly half of students with a zero Expected Family Contribution (EFC) who received more than \$7,500 in financial aid graduated or transferred, compared to 17 percent of those who received between \$1,001 and \$2,500.<sup>23</sup>
- → A meta-analysis of 86 studies found that the provision of grant aid had meaningful positive effects on college enrollment, credit accumulation, persistence and completion with larger positive effects on credit accumulation for studies with samples of students at 2-year institutions.<sup>24</sup>

What follows in this report is an overview of California's current efforts to address this challenge along with recommendations for building on that foundation with fresh, innovative strategies to support learners. In doing so, the EDGE Coalition outlines in this report a strategy to meet employers' evolving needs, drive a resilient state economy and open the door to fulfilling, sustainable career pathways for all Californians.



# **Ingredients for Success**

Financial assistance is a critical component of expanding access to career education and training, alongside other factors such as increasing the availability of high-demand programs that lead to strong labor market outcomes, addressing non-financial barriers to access and providing wraparound services. While financial barriers are part of a broader ecosystem of challenges, this report focuses specifically on the design and implementation of direct financial assistance.

When designing an intervention to provide direct financial support for living expenses for career education and training programs, it is important to account for a range of factors that can influence its success. The National Skills Coalition (NSC) has looked closely at which components contribute to program success, including hosting a Policy Action Lab in 2024,<sup>25</sup> compiling insights shared by learners with lived experience<sup>26</sup> and conducting a review of six financial aid programs in five states that prioritized people enrolled in non-degree credential programs.<sup>27</sup> From these efforts, the following themes emerged as key drivers of successful programs:

- 1. Center student voice. Students should be centered in the design and delivery of policies and programs intended to support their educational and career journeys.
- 2. Prioritize based on need. Need-based aid is generally seen as the most effective and equitable way to reach people who stand to benefit the most from financial assistance and who face the greatest structural barriers to accessing postsecondary opportunities.
- 3. Offer flexible and responsive funding. Flexible funding enables programs to tailor support to students' individual needs, rather than limiting options to only specific types of expenses such as books/supplies, transportation or childcare that may or may not be applicable to a given student's situation.
- 4. Limit documentation requirements. Imposing onerous income documentation requirements for need-based aid (including requirements to complete a FAFSA to qualify for state or local programs for which federal aid is not available) can have the unintended effect of limiting learners' ability to access aid.



- 5. Avoid restrictive academic requirements for ongoing eligibility. Satisfactory Academic Progress (SAP) requirements, which mandate that students maintain a minimum GPA and course completion rate to remain eligible for financial aid, can create barriers to both staying enrolled and re-enrolling after a break in studies.
- 6. Avoid policies that exclude students. Eligibility rules based on a student's date of high school graduation, age or enrollment intensity disproportionately impact adult learners, who may be enrolling for the first time or the first time in many years and who are more likely to enroll part-time due to work and family commitments.
- 7. Keep processes simple. Simplifying financial aid application processes and making information easily accessible can encourage applications and enrollment especially among students with low incomes, who may not be familiar with the college-planning process or who do not have access to advising services or social networks that can alert them to the availability of aid. This could include having a clearly published deadline, making funding available on a rolling basis or pushing application deadlines to later in the year, rather than relying on a first-come, first-served model.
- 8. Ensure quality programs. It is important to ensure that programs eligible for funding are of high quality and produce the desired outcomes. When there are explicit standards and criteria in place to evaluate the quality of credentials, it can help ensure that postsecondary institutions and other training providers are held accountable for delivering programs that meet established benchmarks. While it is beyond the scope of this report to provide an in-depth overview of how quality can be measured, there are several resources that provide guidance on this topic.<sup>28</sup>

Avoid impacting other benefits: Important to keep in mind is also the impact that any additional funding provided to learners may have on their eligibility for other government benefits. Additional income that is offset by a reduction in existing payments from sources such as CalFresh, CalWORKs or housing subsidies is of limited value. Further, in some cases payments can trigger a "benefit cliff" where a small increase in earnings results in the sudden loss or sharp reduction in public assistance, leaving individuals financially worse off than they were before receiving the new funding.

California already has put some provisions in place to minimize the impact of certain programs on government benefits. For example, funding from Guaranteed Basic Income (GBI) programs can be categorized in some situations as "gift aid," which avoids impacts to Medi-Cal and Unemployment Insurance. Waivers may be approved by the California Department of Social Services to also exempt GBI payments from impacting CalWORKs and CalFresh.<sup>29</sup>

Assembly Bill 42 was also recently adopted by the legislature, which exempts certain forms of non-federal student aid from income considerations when determining eligibility for CalWORKs and CalFresh, as allowable by federal law.



# Postsecondary Education and Training Options in California

California offers a comprehensive array of career-focused postsecondary education and training programs spanning a wide range of job sectors. These programs range from a few weeks to several years, producing a variety of credentials that can lead to living wage employment. Table 1 below provides a summary, followed by a detailed description of each option.

TABLE 1: POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION AND TRAINING OPTIONS

Program	Description	Who They Serve	Strengths	Limitations
California Community Colleges	Over 200 career pathways leading to degrees or certificates across 116 institutions	Open access	Statewide availability; open access; low tuition with financial aid and fee waivers for low-income students	High-demand pathways may be oversubscribed
Adult Schools	High school/GED, ESL, short-term specialized training programs	Open access	Accessible entry point; many low- or no-cost options; some financial aid available	Offerings often limited within a single institution; may charge tuition; financial aid availability inconsistent
Nonprofit Training Programs	Short-term, job- focused training	Often prioritize underserved populations	May also provide job readiness services; typically low-cost or free for priority populations	Pathways vary by provider; insufficient funding can constrain access
Apprenticeship & Pre- apprenticeship	Paid, on-the-job work experience combined with classroom learning	Job seekers entering or transitioning into skilled careers	Earn while learning; strong connection to employment and industry-recognized credentials	Concentrated in specific fields; entry requirements may apply; may require multi-year commitment
Employer sponsored programs	Benefits for incumbent workers; may be delivered in partnership with unions	Primarily incumbent workers	May offer wage replacement for training time; can lead directly to career advancement	Generally limited to current employees; often focused on tuition reimbursement
State & National Service Opportunities	Opportunities for public service while gaining skills and experience	public service while young adults supports, and education awards; build civic engagement		Temporary positions; stipends often low; eligibility criteria can restrict access
For Profit Training Programs	Career-focused education	Open access	Can be easier to access than other programs.	High tuition can create substantial debt; quality and job placement outcomes vary widely



California Community Colleges: The California community college system is the largest provider of publicly funded career education in the state with over 200 career pathways across 116 institutions located in every region of the state. Enrollment costs are waived for many students and financial aid is available at all institutions for qualifying programs. While these programs offer wide access, certain high-demand pathways, such as nursing, can be impacted and difficult to access.

Adult Schools: Adult schools are operated by school districts across California. In addition to offering high school diploma/GED programs, English as a Second Language classes, and community education, many offer short-term specialized training programs in high demand fields such as health care, construction, culinary arts, automotive technology and information technology.

These programs may be offered at no charge to



Nonprofit Training Programs: Non-profit training programs in California offer accessible, community-based education and workforce development opportunities, especially for underserved populations. These programs are typically run by community organizations and provide short-term, job-focused training in fields such as healthcare, construction, information technology, culinary arts and green energy. Many non-profit programs partner with employers to align training with local labor market needs and may offer supportive services like job placement, career counseling and transportation assistance.

Apprenticeship and Pre-apprenticeship: An apprenticeship is a structured training program that combines paid, on-the-job work experience with classroom instruction. Apprenticeships are most common in fields like construction, electrical work, plumbing, advanced manufacturing and healthcare, although they are expanding into areas like IT and finance. In California, many apprenticeships are affiliated with unions, employers or community colleges, and some may count toward college credit. These programs often require a high school diploma or equivalent or other prerequisites as well as a multi-year commitment.

Pre-apprenticeship programs provide a stepping stone to registered apprenticeships, equipping participants with the foundational skills needed to succeed in full apprenticeship roles. Many of the most common programs use the California Building Trades Council's <a href="Multi-Craft Core Curriculum (MC3">Multi-Craft Core Curriculum (MC3)</a>, which focuses on the construction trades.



Employer sponsored programs: Some employers provide training benefits for incumbent workers to promote job retention and career advancement, often in partnership with unions through collective bargaining agreements. While these benefits are most commonly offered as tuition assistance, certain programs also cover limited supportive services, such as childcare or transportation costs related to training. Depending on the type of program, workers may also qualify for traditional financial aid, and in some cases, employers offer wage replacement for the time employees spend in training.

State & National Service Opportunities: National service programs, such as AmeriCorps, Job Corps and YouthBuild, along with similar state-funded programs like the California Conservation Corps, Youth Service Corps and College Corps have historically offered individuals the opportunity to engage in public service while gaining skills and experience. These programs typically provide a stipend, and, in some cases, room and board or scholarships for future education. Local initiatives also exist, such as EMS Corps in Alameda County, which provides stipends to youth impacted by foster care or juvenile justice systems while training to be Emergency Medical Technicians.

For Profit Training Programs: For-profit training programs in California are privately operated institutions that offer career-focused education in areas such as medical assisting, dental hygiene, HVAC, cosmetology, truck driving and information technology. These institutions often charge significantly more for tuition than public or nonprofit run programs, which can lead to substantial student debt. Outcomes vary widely with some programs being criticized for low graduation rates, poor job placement and aggressive recruitment practices.<sup>30</sup> For-profit colleges make up 89 percent of the California colleges where most students borrow and few can repay, meaning that at least half of students take out loans and less than half of these borrowers have paid down even \$1 of their loan principal

seven years into repayment.31



# **Current Financial Aid Availability**

Both state and federal sources of financial aid can help to offset the cost of attending training programs, however, every source has limitations, and even combined, do not typically cover the full cost of attendance. After the detailed program descriptions below, Table 2 presents an overview of each program's limitations.<sup>a</sup>

### Traditional Financial Aid

Learners enrolled in traditional educational institutions, including community colleges, some private institutions and some adult school programs, may have access to a number of traditional financial aid programs.

### **PELL GRANT**

While the federal Pell Grant is the largest source of funding for postsecondary education, providing up to \$7,395 annually in 2025/2026, several restrictions limit access to this program. Firstly, the program must be utilized for a forcredit program at an accredited institution. Fifty-nine percent of all certificates and 64 percent of certificates held by adults without associate degrees were obtained through not for credit programs.<sup>32</sup> Although available outcome data reveal considerable variation in the returns of short-term programs,<sup>33</sup> their exclusion raises significant equity concerns. Research indicates that students enrolled in noncredit education are disproportionately older, have lower incomes and are more likely to be students of color.<sup>34</sup>

Historically, eligible programs had to be at least 600 clock hours in length and span a minimum of 15 weeks. This was a barrier to access as nearly two-thirds of programs completed in the U.S.—and 69 percent among adults without associate degrees—require less than one year of study, with nearly half lasting under six months (480 hours). As a result, only 45 percent of certificate students have historically received a Pell Grant.<sup>35</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Financial aid sources available for Bachelor's Degrees programs only, such as the Middle Class Scholarship and CSU and UC institutional grants are not included in the descriptions below.



#### → Workforce Pell

Starting in July 2026, Pell Grant recipients will be eligible to receive awards for educational programs that are between 150 and 599 clock hours and last from eight to 15 weeks at accredited institutions. Under this program unaccredited institutions remain ineligible and other restrictions apply. For example, programs must be aligned with high-skill, high-wage or in-demand industry sectors or occupations; demonstrate a completion rate of at least 70 percent (within 150 percent of normal time) and a job placement rate of at least 70 percent (measured 180 days after completion); and must offer credentials that are stackable and portable.<sup>36</sup> One question unanswered by the statute is whether noncredit workforce training offerings will be eligible.<sup>37</sup>

It is unclear whether adequate data currently exists for California Community College (CCC) programs to demonstrate compliance and if so, whether CCC programs will meet these standards.

#### → Ability to Benefit

Students must have a high school diploma or equivalent to qualify for a Pell Grant; however, institutions can make an exception if the institution can show that the individual has the "Ability to Benefit" (ATB) from postsecondary education. To qualify, students must be enrolled in a program that is part of a career pathway and either pass a skills test or complete six credit hours without federal aid.<sup>38</sup>

To date, nationally, there has been limited take-up of ATB, due to institutions' confusion over eligibility rules and a general lack of awareness. In October 2024 California became the seventh state approved by the U.S. Department of Education to implement its own more flexible ATB criteria.<sup>39</sup> In fall 2023, there were approximately 36,500 adult students without a high school diploma enrolled at a community college in California, creating the opportunity to leverage hundreds of millions of dollars in untapped federal aid by expanding access through ATB.<sup>40</sup> The California Community College Chancellor's office (CCCCO) has convened a community of practice to develop models for ATB implementation and support system-wide expansion that is currently in progress.<sup>41</sup>

#### → Satisfactory Academic Progress (SAP)

Students must maintain a minimum GPA and course completion rate to maintain eligibility for federal financial aid. SAP standards disproportionately impact students of color and can limit access to financial aid when students attempt to reenroll even years later. While institutions have flexibility in how they structure their SAP policies, particularly as it relates to appeals, these policies continue to pose barriers to many students.<sup>42</sup>

### CAL GRANT B - COMMUNITY COLLEGE ENTITLEMENT AWARD

Community college students enrolled in a program of at least one year can receive a Cal Grant B Access Award, which provides \$1,648 per year for up to four years. <u>Students with Dependent Children</u> and <u>foster youth</u> can receive up to \$6,000 annually. Students must submit a Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) or California Dream



Act Application (CADAA), meet income eligibility requirements, have a 2.0 high school GPA, be enrolled at least half time (6 units) and maintain Satisfactory Academic Progress. Total eligibility for all forms of Cal Grant is limited to four years, so some students choose to forgo awards while in community college in order to preserve eligibility for transfer to a four-year institution, where the Cal Grant can also cover tuition costs.

#### **CAL GRANT C**

The Cal Grant C is available to students enrolled in vocational programs of at least four months at any community college, private for-profit or private nonprofit school that qualifies for the Cal Grant. The number of awards is limited to 7,761 each year. Students can receive up to \$2,462 for tuition and fees along with \$547 for books, tools, and equipment at any private for-profit or nonprofit school that qualifies for Cal Grant. Students attending a California Community College can receive up to \$1,094 for non-tuition costs and those with Dependent Children and foster youth can receive up to \$4,000. While state statute provides that funds under this program may be used at community colleges for living expenses, the program is often mistakenly described only as providing funding for tuition, fees, books, tools and equipment.<sup>43</sup> Students may receive a Cal Grant C for up to two years, and this award counts toward the four-year lifetime cap on total Cal Grant eligibility.<sup>b</sup>

According to a 2019 report from the Legislative Analyst's Office (LAO), despite the cap on awards, few students apply for a Cal Grant C and as a result, all eligible applicants are offered awards.<sup>44</sup> In 2023/2024, just 2,426 students received an award, with 1,045 of those going to CCC students and most of the remainder going to For-Profit Private Career Colleges.<sup>45</sup> The LAO report also notes that while applicants for all types of Cal Grant awards must submit a FAFSA or CADAA, applicants for Cal Grant C awards must also submit a supplemental form, which likely decreases application rates.

In addition, the report found that many Career and Technical Education (CTE) students who are eligible for a Cal Grant C award also qualify for a Cal Grant B, which provides more funding (\$1,648 per year compared to \$1,094 for community college students) and is available for a longer duration (four years versus two years). The Cal Grant C remains important, however, since not all students qualify for a Cal Grant B due to its stricter income requirements. Still, because most programs pursued by Cal Grant C recipients last at least one year, the award has limited value for many community college students.

#### STUDENT SUCCESS COMPLETION GRANT (SSCG)

The Student Success Completion Grant (SSCG) provides additional funding to California Community College students who receive a Cal Grant B or C and are enrolled in a minimum number of units. Those enrolled in at least 12 units can receive up to \$2,596 per year and those enrolled in 15 or more units can receive up to \$8,000 annually. Larger award amounts are available to foster youth.

b Note that use of the Cal Grant C does not make a student ineligible to use a Cal Grant A or B at a future date, however all awards, regardless of Cal Grant type, count towards the four-year maximum eligibility for the Cal Grant. See <a href="https://www.csac.ca.gov/post/what-do-i-need-know-about-cal-grant-c">https://www.csac.ca.gov/post/what-do-i-need-know-about-cal-grant-c</a>.



### **CALIFORNIA COLLEGE PROMISE GRANT (CCPG)**

The California College Promise Grant (CCPG) waives enrollment fees for credit coursework at California Community Colleges for low-income students.<sup>c</sup> This program is limited to community colleges and covers only tuition costs. Under a separate program known as **California Promise**, some colleges also waive tuition costs for those who don't qualify for CCPG.

#### POST-9/11 GI BILL

The federal government operates this program, which provides eligible veterans enrolled at least half-time, including those in vocational programs, with a monthly housing allowance as well as funding for tuition, books, and testing costs.

TABLE 2: TRADITIONAL FINANCIAL AID RESTRICTIONS

Aid Source	Income restrictions	Expense types limited	Diploma/ GED required	For- credit only	Accredited institutions only	Min. program length	Number of awards capped	Other limitations
Pell Grant	YES	NO	YES*	YES	YES	15 weeks	NO	SAP, immigration status, FAFSA required, 6-year cap**
Workforce Pell	YES	NO	YES*	TBD	YES	8 weeks & 150 clock hours	NO	SAP, immigration status, FAFSA required, 6-year cap**
Cal Grant B Access Award	YES	NO	YES	YES	YES	1 year	NO	2.0 high school GPA, SAP, half time enrollment, FAFSA or CADAA required, 4-year cap
Cal Grant C	YES	NO	YES	YES	YES	4 months	YES	FAFSA or CADAA & supplemental form required, 2-year cap
Student Success Completion Grant	YES	NO	YES	YES	CCC only	1 year	YES	12-unit enrollment
California College Promise Grant	YES	YES	NO	N/A***	CCC only	none	NO	Tuition only
Post-9/11 GI Bill	NO	YES	NO	NO	NO	none	NO	Veterans only

<sup>\*</sup>Limited exceptions for Ability to Benefit

<sup>\*\*</sup>Six-year cap on Pell Grant eligibility applies to combined length for Pell and Workforce Pell.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup>Noncredit programs do not charge tuition.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>circ}$  Note that most noncredit coursework at community colleges is offered tuition-free.



## Other Types of Support

Beyond traditional financial aid, limited funding is available through other sources, either for learners enrolled in programs outside of college systems or to supplement existing aid. Similar to other forms of direct support, each of these sources has limitations, which are summarized in Table 3.

#### STRONG WORKFORCE PROGRAM (SWP)

The SWP provides state funds that are apportioned directly to community college districts. To date, use of these funds to support students with their direct costs was limited to grants to cover fees for third-party certification and licensing. The passage of AB 323 this year, however, expands eligible uses of funds to include direct student support for paid work-based learning, such as apprenticeships, internships and externships.

#### **HIRE UP**

This state-funded pilot program provides monthly stipends, structured around minimum wage earnings, to community college students who are formerly incarcerated, foster youth or CalWORKs participants. This "aid-like-a-paycheck" model is intended to align financial support with students' real-time living expenses and reduce the need to overwork while enrolled. The program is currently available at 25 California Community Colleges.

#### **WIOA**

Title I of the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) provides funding for Individual Training Accounts (ITAs), which allow individuals to choose training programs from a list of eligible providers. These accounts can be used for tuition, books, fees and other training-related expenses such as uniforms or tools. WIOA funds can also be used to cover certain supportive services, such as childcare, transportation, housing assistance, needs-related payments and other necessary expenses that enable a participant to successfully engage in training. Eligibility for these additional supports and the types of costs covered can vary based on available resources and local policies.

Funding for WIOA is capped by the federal allocation, which has declined consistently since 1980 and is inadequate to the need.<sup>48</sup> Funding for WIOA's state grant programs is down about 50% from fiscal year 2000 when factoring in inflation<sup>49</sup> and WIOA does not have nearly enough funding to support every person who wants to train for a new or better job, with only thirty-one percent of people exiting WIOA adult and dislocated worker programs receiving training and less than 15 percent receiving supportive services.<sup>50</sup>

Similar shortfalls exist in WIOA programs that serve youth. While there are nearly 4.7 million young people ages 16 to 24 in this country who are both out of school and unemployed, more than one-third of whom are living in poverty, in Fiscal Year 2023, funding for WIOA youth served just 127,708 young people.<sup>51</sup>



#### CALFRESH EMPLOYMENT AND TRAINING

Federal funding for the CalFresh program includes an Employment and Training (E&T) component to help recipients gain skills and experience with employment. Among the allowable uses of these funds is the reimbursement of tuition, education related costs (textbooks, school supplies, parking passes, etc.), job-related costs (interview clothing, uniforms, equipment, tools, union fees, etc.), dependent care costs and transportation costs for CalFresh recipients participating in an E&T program. Providers are reimbursed for up to half of their eligible expenses, which, if leveraged strategically, can significantly expand program funding over time.<sup>52</sup> In California, counties provide reimbursement for direct costs to just under 60,000 individuals annually, with recipients receiving an average of \$146/month.<sup>53</sup>

#### **EMERGENCY AID**

Some educational institutions and training programs maintain funding to provide emergency aid to address crisis situations. California funds basic needs centers, which often provide emergency grants, at every CCC. For fiscal year 2025/2026, the state budget also provided an additional \$20 million for emergency aid on a one-time basis to community college students who submitted a California Dream Act Application and \$60 million for the Student Support Block Grant, which is available to provide a range of services including support for basic needs and childcare subsidies. Some non-profit organizations also maintain funding for emergency support, however, there is no dedicated source of funding for this purpose.

While emergency aid can be a powerful tool to support program completion, unlike other forms of financial support, it is provided only when a financial emergency occurs. It is therefore not useful in supporting learners to proactively plan for their education and training needs and, as such, is not a mechanism for supporting program access.

#### **GUARANTEED BASIC INCOME PROGRAMS**

Guaranteed Basic Income (GBI) programs provide individuals with regular, unconditional cash payments to help meet basic needs. These programs have been found to improve financial stability, mental health and full-time employment rates among low-income recipients of these funds.<sup>55</sup> As most GBI pilot programs have focused on adults, outcomes related to education and training are less commonly measured, and this is not an approach that has been widely scaled.

An inherent challenge in GBI programs is that they may reduce households' eligibility for other public benefits. As noted previously, however, funding from Guaranteed Basic Income (GBI) programs can be categorized in some situations as "gift aid," which avoids impacts to Medi-Cal and Unemployment Insurance. Waivers may be approved by the California Department of Social Services to also exempt GBI payments from impacting CalWORKs and CalFresh.<sup>56</sup>

#### **SECTOR-FOCUSED STATE GRANTS**

The State of California has developed several programs that either provide direct grants to learners in specific sectors or fund training providers to deliver services in priority industries. Examples include the High Road Training Partnership (HRTP) and High Road Construction Careers (HRCC) programs as well as grant and scholarship programs



managed by the California Department of Health Care Access and Information. Grant programs in some cases allow providers to use funds to provide direct payments to participants, either as stipends or as supportive services designated for specific costs such as transportation and childcare. Programs in healthcare often require participants to commit to working in underserved communities for a designated time as a condition of receiving a scholarship. These programs have typically received one-time allocations from the state legislature and are not ongoing.

TABLE 3: NON-TRADITIONAL SOURCES OF FINANCIAL AID: PROGRAM LIMITATIONS

Aid Source	Limitations
Strong Workforce Program	<ul> <li>» Limited to fees for third-party certification and licensing and as of 2026, paid work-based learning.</li> <li>» Funding allocation is limited</li> </ul>
Hire UP	<ul> <li>» Limited to students who are formerly incarcerated, foster youth or CalWORKs participants.</li> <li>» Only available at 25 CCCs.</li> </ul>
WIOA	<ul> <li>Must be enrolled in a WIOA approved training program.</li> <li>Covers only direct training-related costs; living expenses excluded.</li> <li>Funding availability is extremely limited.</li> </ul>
CalFresh & E&T	<ul> <li>» Must be enrolled in Cal Fresh.</li> <li>» Covers only specific, pre-approved expenses.</li> <li>» Availability is limited.</li> </ul>
Emergency Aid	<ul> <li>» Offered only at certain institutions.</li> <li>» Funding is scarce and not guaranteed.</li> <li>» Provided only when a financial emergency occurs.</li> </ul>
Guaranteed Basic Income	<ul> <li>» No ongoing funding source.</li> <li>» Available only through limited pilot programs.</li> <li>» May negatively impact other benefits.</li> </ul>
State Sector- Focused Grants	<ul> <li>» Limited to certain industry sectors</li> <li>» May be tied to post-training service obligations.</li> <li>» No ongoing dedicated source of funding.</li> <li>» Use of funds for direct support is at providers' discretion.</li> </ul>



# **Program Models**

Given the broad consensus around the need for financial support for living expenses, several programs have emerged in California and elsewhere to address this need. There is no one single model for providing such support, but rather a range of approaches that have been developed. Below is an overview of existing program models and examples of each tactic. Not all programs have been rigorously evaluated, however, where evidence of efficacy is available, this information is noted.

### **State Grants**

Some states have adopted programs that provide direct grants to students to cover the costs of training programs. While many are limited to covering tuition and fees, examples do exist of state programs that provide funding for non-tuition costs. In California, limited direct aid is provided through the Cal Grant B and C programs, described in more detail above. Several states have implemented alternative approaches, including:

→ The <u>Washington College Grant</u> provides need-based financial aid to income-eligible resident students pursuing education beyond high school including certificate programs, job training, apprenticeships or college Award amounts vary based on income, family size and the school or program attended. Students must have a high school diploma or equivalent and enroll in an eligible program.



- → The Ohio Work Ready Grant offers students up to \$3,000 (\$2K for certificate programs) for participation in a credit or noncredit program that leads to an industry-recognized credential, certificate or degree and prepares the student for a job that is identified as "in-demand" or "critical." The OWRG is not tuition-specific and may be used for other costs included in the student's cost of attendance (COA) such as food and housing, transportation, books and supplies, etc. Eligibility is based on income and funds may be awarded on top of other need-based state grants. Students must submit a FAFSA to apply.
- → The Nevada Silver State Opportunity Scholarship offers need-based grants to eligible low-income students who are college-ready to pay for a portion of the cost of education at a community college or state college within the Nevada System of Higher Education (NSHE). The amount provided is based on each individual student's remaining unmet need.





### **Sector-Focused State Grants**

In California and elsewhere, programs have emerged with the goal of addressing workforce shortages in certain fields such as healthcare and some have incorporated funding to provide direct support to learners for non-tuition costs. Examples include the following:

The California Department of Health Care Access and Information (HCAI) administers multiple scholarship programs to expand the healthcare workforce, along with grant programs that require organizations to provide wraparound support to learners. Program requirements vary: some can be used to cover non-tuition expenses, while others are limited to tuition, fees, textbooks, supplies, and licensure costs. Many include a service obligation, requiring participants to work in an underserved area or serve an underserved population. Apart from certain programs specifically for nursing students, most are funded through periodic one-time allocations from the legislature, making their availability subject to frequent changes.

A new program funded in the 2025/2026 budget, <u>BH-CONNECT</u>, will leverage Medicaid funding to expand support for behavioral health training, however, because of federal limitations, funds used to pay participants directly can be used only for tuition support and loan repayment. More flexible funding is being made available through Proposition 1, which designates a percentage of Mental Health Services Act funding to HCAI for workforce development activities.

The California Workforce Development Board (CWDB) and the Labor and Workforce Development Agency (LWDA) manage industry-led workforce training programs such as the <u>High Road Training Partnership</u> (HRTP) and <u>High Road Construction Careers</u> (HRCC) programs. These programs provide grants to training providers across a range of high-demand fields for both new and expanding programs. These programs require partnerships with employers and worker representatives as well as a 1:1 match. Employer or provider contributions toward trainee compensation can satisfy this match.

HRTP is the largest CWDB program and funds may be used to cover participant costs including through the payment of wages or stipends as well as through funding for supportive services, such as transportation and childcare. However, only about 35 percent of participants receive some form of financial assistance, whether from wages, stipends or supportive services.<sup>57</sup> With only 35 percent of HRTP participants meeting the WIOA definition of "low-income" (generally meaning a participant qualifies for public assistance or is unhoused)<sup>58</sup> a lack of support for basic living costs may be a barrier to entry to this program for the lowest-income Californians.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup>Note that in addition to the programs described in this section, in November 2024, California voters approved Proposition 35, which altered the spending plan for the state's managed care organization (MCO) tax. Included in the 2025-2026 state budget was \$75 million from MCO tax funds for the Labor Management Cooperation Committee (LMCC) program, to create new LMCCs between health care employees and employers to implement workforce development programs with the aim of enhancing training programs, upskilling/apprenticeships, and recruitment and retention. Because of changes to the MCO tax at the federal level, however, this is unlikely to move forward at this time. A similar program in Oregon is also in jeopardy.



## **Nonprofit Programs**

Some non-profit organizations raise funds to be able to provide stipends to participants in training programs, emergency funds or funds to cover costs such as housing and transportation. Examples include the following:

- Tear Up United is a national nonprofit organization that serves low-income young adults aged 18–24, providing them with six months of technical training followed by a six-month internship in fields like information technology and finance. Participants receive stipends during both phases. The program receives substantial support from corporate partners as well as philanthropic support. Five years after program completion, Year Up participants had average annual earnings nearly \$8,000 higher than those in the control group, a 33 percent increase. The program also demonstrated a return of \$1.66 for every dollar invested.<sup>59</sup>
- → Community Cycles of California received funding from the state-funded Breaking Barriers program to offer training to a small cohort of justice-involved



- → The HOPE Program in New York City provides access to industry relevant certifications along with transferable, essential skills like digital literacy, introductory math, financial planning, communication and conflict management. Program participants receive a weekly stipend and support services include direct cash assistance.
- The Drive Change Fellowship in New York City is a three-month paid program that supports youth with criminal justice involvement by building career-focused skills in the hospitality sector. Fellows make \$22 an hour, which allows them to focus on training and not have to worry about how they're going to pay their bills or support their families.
- Project QUEST, based in San Antonio, Texas, offers extensive support, including limited financial assistance, to enable participants to complete occupational training in high-demand sectors such as healthcare. Funding is provided by the City of San Antonio, Bexar County and private donors. Nine years post-enrollment, Project QUEST participants experienced an average annual earnings increase of approximately \$5,000 compared to a control group and an 11-year follow-up study revealed a 20 percent increase in average annual earnings.<sup>61</sup>



### **Guaranteed Basic Income**

Guaranteed Basic Income programs provide participants with a fixed monthly payment, without spending restrictions or conditions for continued participation. Although most programs are not directly linked to post-secondary education or training, some are, and youth-focused initiatives provide limited data on participants' educational and employment outcomes.

- → The Santa Fe LEAP program ran for one year and provided monthly payments of \$400 to 100 low-income, young parents enrolled in a certificate or degree program at Santa Fe Community College (SFCC). Thirty percent of students graduated from SFCC during the study period and participants reported improved housing conditions and a 19-point increase in full-time employment from baseline to 6 months after the program ended. 62
- → The Building Outstanding Opportunities for Students to Thrive (BOOST) program run by the Los Angeles Community College District provides a monthly guaranteed income of \$1,000 per month to 250 low-income students pursuing a degree or certificate in a health care field over a one-year period. All costs are funded by private donors, and the project includes a research partnership to evaluate impact.
- → The YouthNPower: Transforming Care pilot in New York City provided 100 youth who had aged out of foster care \$1,000 monthly in unconditional direct cash payments for one year. A report on the program found that more young people were in school after 12 months of unconditional cash support and youth who were receiving payments in the pilot were 15 percent more likely to report earnings over the 12-month period.<sup>63</sup>





### **Alternative Financing Strategies**

Several innovative approaches to helping learners finance workforce training have emerged in recent years that predicate funding on program completion, provide no-interest loans to participants, rely on income-based repayment plans or create employer matching accounts to assist workers to save money for training. These programs have shown some success, and repayment provisions help make these models more financially sustainable; however, there is limited research on whether this approach is viable for all populations.

- The Per Scholas Loan Program offered no-interest loans of up to \$2,400 to learners participating in Colorado in the Per Scholas program, which offers no-cost, tech skills training and workforce development programs.

  Learners who had access to the financial assistance had a graduation rate 22 percentage points higher than learners who did not have access to the loan. This program was expanded in 2023 to eight Per Scholas campuses with a maximum loan amount of \$3,000. Once the repayment period begins, learners can request a deferment if they do not have a job earning at least \$40,000 per year. Loan recipients were more likely to enroll in the program and Zero Percent Loan applicants had substantially higher graduation rates compared to those who did not take out the loan: 83 percent versus 70 percent.<sup>64</sup>
- → The UP Fund was launched in 2020 by Social Finance, a national nonprofit organization that designs workforce and education investments. The UP Fund created a pilot program using the Career Impact Bond (CIB) model, which provides funding for individuals to enroll in sector-focused skills training programs with access to career and support services. Under the terms of an income share agreement (ISA), learners commit to paying a fixed percentage or amount of their future income over a set term and up to a capped amount. Learners only make payments toward their ISA when they have earnings above a predetermined earnings threshold.<sup>65</sup>
- Training Savings Accounts are an emerging approach focused on incumbent employees looking to upskill whereby employees and employers contribute funds to an employee-owned educational savings account that can be used to cover the cost of education and training. The Council for Adult and Experiential Learning has piloted <a href="Lifelong Learning Accounts"><u>Lifelong Learning Accounts</u></a> (LiLAs) which offer employee-owned educational savings accounts. Regular contributions by employees are matched by the employer to help pay for education and training expenses. Funds can be used to pay tuition as well as related expenses such as childcare, books and admission test fees.



### **Employer Sponsored Programs**

For workers in low-wage jobs with limited opportunities for advancement, training can provide a crucial pathway to higher wages and more sustainable careers. Further, employers who offer training and education benefits to their employees can also see significant benefits. For example, one study found that a tuition assistance program at Cigna Health resulted in a 129% return on investment to the company. While many programs require employees to reduce their work hours or train on their own time, some cover regular wages for the hours spent in training—an ideal way to ease the financial burden often associated with skill development. While evaluation of these programs is limited, the research that does exist points to benefits for both employers and employees. Such programs can be funded and overseen by state or local government, developed through employer—union partnerships or initiated directly by employers.

- → Incumbent Worker Training (IWT) Programs: Under the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA), local workforce boards across the United States, including many of California's boards, offer Incumbent Worker Training (IWT) grants for employers. Under this model, employers design training for current employees and pay their regular wages while workers attend training, with wage expenses counting as the employer's required "matching share" of the training cost.<sup>68</sup>
- → California's Employment Training Panel (ETP) program is funded through the Employment Training Tax paid by California employers. The state provides funding to offset training delivery costs (e.g., instructor fees, curriculum, materials). Employers are required to pay employees their regular wages for the time spent in training.

The Education Fund is a partnership between 22 healthcare industry employers and 6 SEIU local unions, funded by collectively bargained employer contributions to provide education and training benefits for over 100,000 eligible healthcare workers. The Wage Replacement program through the Fund allows employees of select employer partners to receive payments to reduce their work schedule up to 16 hours per pay period to attend class, study or participate in a clinical or internship experience.

→ Walmart's recent training pilot is an example of an employer driven model consisting of a training program designed to upskill frontline hourly workers to move into careers in facilities maintenance, HVAC, refrigeration and automation. Participants are paid their regular hourly wages while attending the multi-month training.<sup>69</sup>



## Supplemental Apprenticeship Funding

While apprenticeship programs provide participants with a wage, the amount available is not always adequate, especially in high-cost areas of the state or for households with childcare expenses.

- → The Equal Representation in Construction Apprenticeship (ERiCA) Grant provides dedicated funding aimed at dismantling barriers that disproportionately prevent women from entering and thriving in the construction industry. Among the eligible uses are grants of up to \$5,000 per eligible apprentice in a registered preapprenticeship program, or \$10,000 per eligible apprentice in a registered apprenticeship program to cover the cost of childcare.
- → The California Opportunity Youth Apprenticeship (COYA) Grant provides funding for existing or new apprenticeship and pre-apprenticeship programs to serve opportunity youth. Pre-apprenticeship programs may provide a stipend of up to \$6,000 per participant.





# Recommendations

The following recommendations outline potential solutions for the State of California to address the challenges detailed in this report. Some call for immediate attention and are relatively straightforward to implement because they do not involve significant costs; these are presented as Short-Horizon Strategies. Others will require more substantial funding and longer timelines and are therefore included as Longer-Horizon Strategies.

In addition to policy changes, research can serve as a critical tool for advancing effective solutions and the final set of recommendations highlight areas where further study can strengthen decision-making and improve outcomes.

### **Short-Horizon Strategies**



Expand access to Pell Grants for high-quality training programs by fully leveraging the new Workforce Pell option.

The newly created Workforce Pell program at the federal level creates a rare opportunity to leverage new federal dollars for California's learners. Implementing Workforce Pell, however, will require the state to develop a protocol for approving programs, coordinate with state accreditation bodies and support California Community College programs to meet eligibility requirements such as those related to program completion and job placement rates.

As Workforce Pell rolls out, the state should focus on two key priorities. First, it must protect students from untested or low-quality programs. California should enact policies to implement this program that include guardrails to ensure students' Pell Grant money is not wasted. The federal statute provides minimal protections, requiring only that providers be accredited, and does not mandate that programs publicly report outcomes or earnings data.<sup>70</sup>

Second, the state must help institutions to navigate the program's eligibility requirements. To qualify, programs must demonstrate a completion rate of at least 70 percent (within 150 percent of normal time), have a job placement rate of at least 70 percent (measured 180 days after completion) and have costs that do not exceed the median value-added earnings of graduates (determined by comparing median wages after three years and 150% of the federal poverty line).<sup>71</sup> These metrics may be difficult for community colleges to both track and achieve. The state should



therefore develop a strategy to support these institutions, positioning them to take full advantage of the opportunity that Workforce Pell presents.

Efforts related to Workforce Pell implementation could also examine complementary policies needed to maximize the program's value, such as ensuring access to public benefits, providing holistic support and expanding career navigation services. In addition, the state could explore whether there is a path for learners enrolled in adult education or high-quality short-term programs offered by high-road nonprofit training providers to gain access to Pell Grants.

2

### Maximize access to Pell Grants and Cal Grants through utilization of the Ability to Benefit option.

In 2024, as noted earlier in this report, California secured approval for a streamlined approach that allows students without a high school diploma or equivalent to access Pell Grants through the Ability to Benefit (ATB) option. Implementing this option will require both incentives and support for colleges. According to estimates from the Chancellor's Office, the change could direct hundreds of millions of dollars in additional aid to community college students, including those enrolled in career education programs. However, the pace at which colleges adopt the new ATB pathway will determine its impact, and further efforts may be needed to ensure broad and timely implementation.

In addition, current Cal Grant rules require a high school diploma or equivalent and do not make provisions that allow for eligibility based on the ATB standard. State legislation should be enacted that allows students who qualify for a Pell Grant under California's ATB protocol to also qualify for a Cal Grant B Access Award if the student otherwise meets Cal Grant eligibility requirements.



# Ensure that current and new state funding for behavioral healthcare workforce training addresses the needs of middle-skill workers.

The Department of Health Care Access and Information (HCAI) is poised for a major expansion of its role in behavioral health workforce development in the coming year. As noted earlier in this report, new Medicaid funding for BH-Connect provides direct support to training participants but is limited to loan repayment and tuition scholarships. In contrast, funding from Proposition 1, approved by voters in 2024, offers far greater flexibility. Under this measure, HCAI will receive three percent of all Mental Health Services Act (MHSA) revenues to administer behavioral health workforce development programs. These programs will be designed in consultation with stakeholders, creating an important opportunity to influence how the funds are allocated and used.

This program could be structured to provide strong support for middle-skill positions, address learners' financial needs in its design, and incorporate the principles outlined in the "Ingredients for Success" section. The stakeholder input process is ongoing with an expectation that the program design will be finalized by May 2026.



### **Long-Term Horizon Strategies**

1

Provide state funding for non-Pell Grant eligible learners to address costs of living.

While students enrolled in traditional community college programs typically have their tuition waived and can access financial aid such as the Pell Grant, Cal Grant and Student Success Completion Grant, those in most adult school or nonprofit-run programs, as well as students in noncredit community college programs, have little to no support to cover their cost of living while in training. Limited funding may be available through WIOA, but it is generally restricted to expenses directly tied to participation, such as tuition, books, transportation and childcare. And while financial aid for community college students is often insufficient, the gap is even more pronounced for those who aren't eligible for any aid at all.

To address this gap, the state could establish a dedicated funding source to provide financial support for living expenses to these learners, who often must reduce work hours to participate in training. To maximize the impact of this investment, eligibility could be limited to learners enrolled in tuition-free programs. This funding could be distributed either directly to students, similar to traditional financial aid, or through grants to program providers who would then allocate funds to participants. The program design should align with the principles outlined in the "Ingredients for Success" section of this report, with particular attention to removing barriers to access and ensuring program quality.

As a first step, the state could launch the initiative as a pilot program with a built-in evaluation component to assess the most effective structure and determine whether providing living cost support improves outcomes for these learners.

This recommendation aligns with the California Student Aid Commission Student Success Blueprint, which sets a goal by 2030 to "establish financial aid programs that support adult learners through coordinated and effective structures for Californians seeking career and life-long learning opportunities, such as work or service-based learning, expanding aid to short-term programs, and re-training incentive programs."

An attempt to create a grant program funded with a one-time allocation of \$50 million for this purpose, the amount recommended by the *Lifting Children and Families*Out of Poverty Task Force Report, was made in 2021 through the introduction of Senate Bill 61. While not successful, this could be used as a starting place for future legislation.



2

# Provide funding to implement Cal Grant Modernization and, in the interim, update the Cal Grant C program as a transitional measure.

Legislation adopted in 2022 proposed a major overhaul of the Cal Grant program, including a new structure that would eliminate high school GPA requirements for all community college students and would eliminate the distinctions between Cal Grant A, B and C, replacing this structure instead with the Cal Grant 2 (for community college students) and Cal Grant 4 (for university students).<sup>74</sup> These changes, however, have not yet been funded. Full Cal Grant Modernization should be funded, however, in the meantime, focused reforms to the Cal Grant C program could serve as an interim step until broader Cal Grant reform is implemented.

Barriers to accessing the Cal Grant C program have contributed to its significant underutilization. Although the current statute authorizes up to 7,761 grants annually, only 2,426 were awarded in 2023–24—and more than half of those went to students enrolled in for-profit proprietary programs.<sup>75</sup>

Several factors likely contribute to this low uptake, including limited awareness about program uses and eligibility, application barriers and ineffective program outreach. For instance, while state statute allows Cal Grant

C funds to be used at community colleges for living expenses, information on the California

Student Aid Commission website as well as some college websites describe the grant
as covering only tuition, fees, books and supplies. Additionally, a report from the

Legislative Analyst's Office (LAO) identified the program's supplemental

application requirement as a potential barrier to participation.

Moreover, many Career and Technical Education (CTE) students are enrolled in programs lasting at least one year and meet the GPA and income requirements to qualify for a Cal Grant

B, which offers greater financial support over a longer duration. Revisiting how Cal Grant C interacts with Cal Grant B could help boost participation in the program.

The California Student Aid Commission has also raised the possibility of revisiting the Cal Grant C program in recent discussions.<sup>76</sup>







# Institute guidelines for future allocations to CWDB programs regarding the provision of direct support to program participants.

The California Workforce Development Board (CWDB) administers several programs that can be used to cover participant costs through wages or stipends as well as through grants for supportive services such as transportation and childcare. Across programs, about 30-35 percent of participants receive some form of financial assistance, whether wages from apprenticeship or on-the-job training programs, incumbent worker payments, stipends or supportive services. In its largest program, the High Road Training Partnership (HRTP), 35 percent meet the WIOA definition of "low-income" (generally meaning a participant qualifies for public assistance or is unhoused). While this strict definition excludes some participants who are still financially vulnerable, the limited availability of basic living cost support likely remains a significant barrier to participation for California's lowest-income learners.

Programs such as HRTP typically have multiple goals beyond supporting low-income workers, including, for example, raising overall industry wide standards. At a minimum, CWDB could be asked to collect and report more detailed information regarding how many programs are providing stipends or other forms of direct financial support to participants, how much funding has been utilized for this purpose and more detailed information regarding the income level of participants.





4

#### Incentivize employer participation in paid training opportunities for non-incumbent workers.

The state should explore ways to incentivize employers to invest in training that expands the pool of available workers in their industry, including providing financial support to help prospective workers participate. As described earlier in this report, employer sponsored training programs focus largely on incumbent workers, and this could be an untapped resource that could be broadened to encompass new workers as well. This could include broadening of employer participation in apprenticeship programs as well as developing funding options to provide preapprenticeship stipends.

Options to further explore could be using Training-to-Hire Agreements, where employers commit to covering living costs during training in exchange for a contractual agreement that the trainee works for them for a set period afterward. Alternatively, employers in the same sector could contribute to a jointly managed fund that pays living stipends to trainees in approved programs. Other incentivization models could include payroll tax credits or allowing employers who sponsor living stipends for trainees to get temporary reductions in workers' compensation premiums or unemployment insurance contributions.





### **Research Opportunities**



### Longitudinal outcome studies

One potential area for research is examining whether participants in state-funded training programs secure employment in fields that offer clear opportunities for career advancement and the role that financial support for living expenses plays in participant outcomes. This research could follow program graduates longitudinally, tracking both short- and long-term employment outcomes, including wages, job stability, benefits and upward mobility. Such a study could also track reliance on public benefits post-training. In addition to quantitative metrics, such as earnings growth and promotion rates, the study could incorporate qualitative data from participant interviews to understand how well training aligned with their career goals, the barriers they encountered to advancement, and the supports that proved most effective, including the role of financial support for living expenses.

There has been some limited research to date that follows participants post-graduation, such as evaluations of Project Quest and evaluations conducted of the Department of Labor's Trade Adjustment Assistance Community College and Career Training (TAACCCT) program, but these studies do not shed light on the specific role of financial supports.<sup>78</sup>



#### **Understanding total costs**

A third potential area for research is examining the full range of costs associated with participating in short-term training programs, beyond tuition and fees, to better understand the financial barriers learners face. A comprehensive cost analysis, incorporating data from a diverse range of programs and participant circumstances, would help quantify the true economic burden on learners. John Burton Advocates for Youth recently published a report that evaluated costs for public institutions and found that many institutions underestimate costs in their publicly available Cost of Attendance budgets. Such research could provide a strong evidence base for designing tailored financial aid policies and support services that address the real costs of participation and improve both access and completion rates.

3

### **Quality Control**

Another potential area for research is to further identify and define the elements that most directly influence the quality of training programs, with the goal of establishing clear "quality guardrails" for state-funded initiatives. While much work has been done on this topic already, future research could assess their real-world impact on student success. This would help ensure that public investments are directed toward training programs with the highest potential to deliver lasting career gains for participants.



## Conclusion

Expanding access to financial support for living expenses related to career education and training is both a practical and necessary step toward helping more Californians complete programs that lead to stable, well-paying jobs. As this report has shown, tuition is often not the primary barrier—costs related to housing, transportation, food, and childcare can be just as limiting, particularly for adult learners balancing work and family responsibilities. Evidence from a range of programs demonstrates that when these basic needs are addressed, students are more likely to persist in their studies, earn credentials and find employment in their chosen fields.

California has many strengths to build on, including a variety of training options, innovative workforce partnerships and sector-focused investments. By closing gaps in financial aid for learners ineligible for traditional programs, updating existing aid structures and ensuring that funding can be used flexibly to meet diverse needs, the state can make training programs more accessible and effective. These improvements would not only benefit individual learners but also support employers seeking a skilled workforce.

With thoughtful policy changes and strategic investments, California can continue to strengthen the link between education and economic opportunity, which stands to benefit multiple generations of Californians. By reducing financial barriers, the state can help more residents prepare for careers in high-demand fields while supporting a more inclusive and resilient economy for the future.

# **Acknowledgments**

This report was authored by Debbie Raucher on behalf of the <u>CA EDGE Coalition</u>, a partnership of business, labor, social justice, education and workforce organizations committed to building broadly shared prosperity. The authors gratefully acknowledge EDGE leadership, Zima Creason and Anna Alvarado, for their close collaboration and guidance throughout the project, as well as Tipping Point Community for generously providing the resources that made this project possible.

The report was informed by an expert advisory committee as well as key informants, and we are deeply appreciative of their time and expertise. A complete list of contributors can be found in Appendix A. The conclusions presented here reflect themes identified through interviews and a review of existing literature; they do not necessarily represent the views of any individual or organization that participated in the process.

Graphic design services were provided by Alyssa Prettyman of PrettyMe Creative Solutions.

# **Appendix A: Report Informants**

### **Advisory Committee**

- » Sameer Gadkaree, The Institute for College Access & Success (TICAS)
- » Adam Gottlieb, UNITE-LA
- » Sean Hughes, CA Opportunity Youth Network (COYN)
- » Isis Medina Orellana, CA Workforce Association and EDGE Coalition Member
- » Talia Nagar, Tipping Point Community
- » Jessica Pitt, Healthcare Workforce, Labor & Workforce Development Agency
- » Lindsey Reichlin Cruse, National Skills Coalition
- » Luis Sandoval, Building Skills Partnership
- » Tarik Scott, SEIU UHW & Joint Employer Education Fund

### Additional Informants

- » Linda Collins, Career Ladders Project and EDGE Coalition Board President
- » Sandra Hamameh, CA Workforce Development Board
- » Rebecca Hanson, SEIU UHW & Joint Employer Education Fund and EDGE Coalition Board Treasurer
- » Kevin Hickey, Maica Dela Cruz Porcadas, Catita Alvarado, New Door
- » Hovik Khosrovian, Department of Health Care Access and Information
- » Byron Reaves, Career Ladders Project
- » Ashleigh Smallwood, Jobs for the Future
- » Laura Szabo-Kubitz, The Institute for College Access & Success (TICAS)
- » Amy Wallace, Corporation for a Skilled Workforce
- » Chris Shannon, Corporation for a Skilled Workforce



# **Endnotes**

- Anthony P. Carnevale, Nicole Smith, Martin Van Der Werf and Michael C. Quinn (2023). After everything: Projections of jobs, education, and training requirements through 2031 – State report. Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce. https://cew.georgetown. edu/cew-reports/projections2031/
- 2. Terrell Dunn, When the Exception Becomes the Norm: The Rise of Nontraditional Students in Higher Education, Issue Brief (New York: Manhattan Institute for Policy Research, January 16, 2025), <a href="https://manhattan.institute/article/rise-of-nontraditional-students-in-higher-education">https://manhattan.institute/article/rise-of-nontraditional-students-in-higher-education</a>
- 3. Katie Brown, Putting Pell Grants to Work for Working
  Students: How Modernizing Our Federal Higher Education
  Policy Can Improve Outcomes for Students and Employers
  in Today's Economy (Washington, DC: National Skills
  Coalition, March 6, 2018), https://nationalskillscoalition.
  org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Putting-Pell-Grants-to-work-for-working-students-1.pdf
- 4. Sandy Baum, Harry J. Holzer, and Grace Luetmer, Should the Federal Government Fund Short-Term Postsecondary Certificate Programs? (Washington, DC: Urban Institute for Policy Research, December 15, 2020), <a href="https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/103370/should-the-federal-government-fund-short-term-postsecondary-certificate-programs\_0\_0.pdf">https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/103370/should-the-federal-government-fund-short-term-postsecondary-certificate-programs\_0\_0.pdf</a>.
- 5. Education Pays: Unemployment Rates and Earnings by Educational Attainment, 2024 Data," Career Outlook, U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, last modified August 29, 2024, https://www.bls.gov/emp/chart-unemploymentearnings-education.htm.
- 6. U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "A-17. Employment status of the civilian noninstitutional population 25 years and over by educational attainment, sex, race, and Hispanic or Latino ethnicity," Employment Situation (not seasonally adjusted). Last modified August 1, 2025. <a href="https://www.bls.gov/web/empsit/cpseea17.htm">https://www.bls.gov/web/empsit/cpseea17.htm</a>.
- **7.** Sandy Baum, Should the Federal Government Fund Short-Term Postsecondary Certificate Programs?

- 8. Anthony P. Carnevale, Ban Cheah, and Emma Wenzinger, The College Payoff: More Education Doesn't Always Mean More Earnings (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce, 2021), https://cew.georgetown.edu/wp-content/uploads/cew-college\_payoff\_2021-fr.pdf.
- g. Eric Brunner, Shaun Dougherty, and Stephen Ross, The promise of career and technical education: Improving outcomes for students (Brookings, September 20, 2019). https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-promise-of-career-and-technical-education/
- 10. Monique O. Ositelu, Clare McCann, and Amy Laitinen, The Short-term Credentials Landscape: What We See and What Remains Unseen (Washington, DC: New America, commissioned by Lumina Foundation, May 5, 2021), https://www.luminafoundation.org/wp-content/ uploads/2021/05/the-short-term-credentialslandscape.pdf.
- 11. The RP Group and the Chief Executive Officers (CEO)
  Affordability, Food & Housing Access Taskforce (2025).
  Real College California: Basic Needs Among California
  Community College Students in 2025. Community College
  League of California <a href="https://www.ccleague.org/wp-content/uploads/2025\_BasicNeedsSurveyBook\_FINAL.pdf">https://www.ccleague.org/wp-content/uploads/2025\_BasicNeedsSurveyBook\_FINAL.pdf</a>.
- 12. Cynthia Hess, Barbara Gault, Meika Berlan, Jessica Milli, and Emma Williams-Baron, Supports that Matter in Workforce Development Programs: A National Client Survey on Access to Services, IWPR Report No. C452 (Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research, February 2017), <a href="https://iwpr.org/supports-that-matter-in-workforce-development-programs-a-national-client-survey-on-access-to-services/">https://iwpr.org/supports-that-matter-in-workforce-development-programs-a-national-client-survey-on-access-to-services/</a>.
- 13. Gallup and Lumina Foundation, *The State of Higher Education 2025: Demand for Higher Education Remains Strong Despite Barriers* (Washington, DC: Gallup, 2025), https://www.gallup.com/analytics/644939/state-of-higher-education.aspx



- 14. Office of Governor Gavin Newsom (State of California), Master Plan for Career Education (Sacramento, CA: Office of the Governor, April 2025), <a href="https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/04/2025-CA-Master-Plan-for-Career-Education.pdf">https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/04/2025-CA-Master-Plan-for-Career-Education.pdf</a>
- 15. California Student Aid Commission, Commissioner Retreat Brief: CSAC Student Success Blueprint: Student Success for All Students with a Focus On Equity (August 14, 2025), https://csac.community.highbond.com/document/b892bfba-39c3-44ea-8872-163c0a5b9f51/
- 16. California Department of Social Services, AB 1520 Final Report: Lifting Children and Families Out of Poverty Task Force (Sacramento: CDSS, November 2018), https://www.cdss.ca.gov/Portals/g/CalWORKs/AB1520%20-%20
  Final%20Report.pdf?ver=2018-11-19-145600-677.
- 17. Emily McGrath and Michelle Burris, "WIOA Reauthorization Fails to Address the Legislation's Biggest Shortcomings," Commentary, The Century Foundation, April 12, 2024, <a href="https://tcf.org/content/commentary/wioa-reauthorization-fails-to-address-the-legislations-biggest-shortcomings/">https://tcf.org/content/commentary/wioa-reauthorization-fails-to-address-the-legislations-biggest-shortcomings/</a>
- 18. Lindsey Reichlin Cruse and Jennifer Stiddard, State Financial Aid for Non-Degree Credentials: Models and Considerations for Policy and Program Design (Washington, DC: National Skills Coalition, July 2024), https://nationalskillscoalition.org/wp-content/ uploads/2024/07/State\_Financial\_Aid\_July\_2024.pdf
- 19. Mara Lockowandt, Sanjana Seth, Sarah Hooker Bentley, Armand Gutierrez, Jennifer Garcia, and Rami Arafah, Advancing California's Workforce Equity Through Population-Specific Strategies: A Framework for Program Design and Systems Change (Boston: Jobs for the Future, February 2025). https://www.jff.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/ETPFTA\_Report.pdf.
- 20. Results for America, "Sector-Specific Job Training," Economic Mobility Catalog, accessed August 4, 2025, https://catalog.results4america.org/strategies/sectorspecific-job-training
- 21. Jaime Thomas, Naihobe Gonzalez, Breyon Williams,
  Nora Paxton, Jensen Hu, Andrew Wiegand, and Leela
  Hebbar, The Effects of Expanding Pell Grant Eligibility for
  Short Occupational Training Programs: New Results on
  Employment and Earnings from the Experimental Sites
  Initiative, Washington, DC: National Center for Education

- Evaluation and Regional Assistance, U.S. Department of Education, November 2024), https://ies.ed.gov/sites/default/files/ncee/document/2025/01/NCEE%202025-005r.pdf
- 22. Maura Kelly, *Highway Construction Workforce*Development Program Evaluation (Portland, OR: Portland
  State University, 2020), <a href="https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.">https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.</a>
  <a href="edu/soc\_fac/151/">edu/soc\_fac/151/</a>
- 23. Colleen Campbell, Debbie Cochrane, and Ivy Love,
  Aiding Success: The Role of Federal and State Financial
  Aid in Supporting California Community College Students
  (Washington, DC and Oakland, CA: ACCT and TICAS,
  2017), https://ticas.org/california/aiding-success/.
- 24. Robin R. LaSota, Joshua R. Polanin, Laura W. Perna, Melissa A. Rodgers, and Megan J. Austin, "Does Aid Matter? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Effects of Grant Aid on College Student Outcomes," *Review of Educational Research* 95, no. 3 (2025): 464–504.
- 25. Kate Michaels, "Policy Action Lab: Expanding Holistic Supports for Students on Quality Non-Degree Pathways," National Skills Coalition Skills Blog (September 4, 2024), https://nationalskillscoalition.org/blog/news/policy-action-lab-expanding-holistic-supports-for-students-on-quality-non-degree-pathways/.
- 26. National Skills Coalition, Non-Degree Pathways

  Brief (Washington, DC: National Skills Coalition,

  December 2024), <a href="https://nationalskillscoalition.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/12/NSC-NonDegreePathways\_Brief.pdf">https://nationalskillscoalition.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/12/NSC-NonDegreePathways\_Brief.pdf</a>.
- 27. Jennifer Stiddard and Lindsey Reichlin Cruse, State Financial Aid for Non-Degree Credentials: Models and Considerations for Policy and Program Design (Washington, DC: National Skills Coalition, July 11, 2024), https://nationalskillscoalition.org/wp-content/ uploads/2024/07/State\_Financial\_Aid\_July\_2024.pdf.
- 28. For example, see Expanding Opportunities: Defining
  Quality Non-Degree Credentials for States (National
  Skills Coalition, 2019); Creating an Impact with Credential
  Quality and Transparency (National Skills Coalition, 2021);
  Literature Review: Career Pathways Programs (The Aspen
  Institute, 2013), Evaluating Workforce Programs: A Guide
  to What Policymakers Need to Know to Structure Effective,
  User-Friendly Evaluations (John J. Heldrich Center for
  Workforce Development, 2011).



- 29. San Francisco Office of Financial Empowerment,
  November 2021, "Protecting Benefits in Guaranteed
  Income Pilots: Lessons Learned from the Abundant
  Birth Project," <a href="https://sftreasurer.org/sites/default/files/2021-12/Protecting%20Benefits%20Report\_v4.4.pdf">https://sftreasurer.org/sites/default/files/2021-12/Protecting%20Benefits%20Report\_v4.4.pdf</a>
- 30. David J. Deming, Claudia Goldin, and Lawrence F. Katz, "The For-Profit Postsecondary School Sector: Nimble Critters or Agile Predators?" Journal of Economic Perspectives 26, no. 1 (Winter 2012): 139–64.
- 31. The Institute for College Access & Success. (2021, June).

  Dreams dashed: California colleges where many borrow
  but few repay [Fact sheet]. https://ticas.org/wp-content/
  uploads/2021/06/Dreams-Dashed\_CA-CollegesWhere-Many-Borrow-but-Few-Repay.pdf
- 32. Sandy Baum, Sarah M. Cohodes, Jennifer Ma,
  Sandy Baum, and Michael McPherson, Should the
  Federal Government Fund Short-Term Postsecondary
  Certificate Programs? (Washington, DC: Urban Institute,
  2019) https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/
  publication/103370/should-the-federal-governmentfund-short-term-postsecondary-certificateprograms 0\_0.pdf
- 33. National Association of Student Financial Aid Administrators, *An Analysis of Existing Short-Term Postsecondary Programs* (Washington, D.C.: NASFAA, Advance CTE & ACTE, 2020), <a href="https://www.nasfaa.org/uploads/documents/Analysis\_Existing\_Short-Term\_Postsecondary\_Programs.pdf">https://www.nasfaa.org/uploads/documents/Analysis\_Existing\_Short-Term\_Postsecondary\_Programs.pdf</a>.
- 34. Derek V. Price and Wendy Sedlak, Creating Opportunity for All: Building Pathways from Continuing Education to Credit Programs (Silver Spring, MD: Achieving the Dream, January 2018), https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED583632 and D. Xu, "Noncredit Education in Community College: Students, Course Enrollments, and Academic Outcomes," Community College Review 48, no. 1 (2020): 77–101, https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552119876039.
- **35.** Baum et al., Should the Federal Government Fund Short-Term Postsecondary Certificate Programs?
- 36. Association for Career and Technical Education, "A Closer Look at Reconciliation: Short-Term Pell," CTE Policy Watch, July 10, 2025, <a href="https://www.acteonline.org/blog/cte-policy-watch/a-closer-look-at-reconciliation-short-term-pell/">https://www.acteonline.org/blog/cte-policy-watch/a-closer-look-at-reconciliation-short-term-pell/</a>

- **37.** Dembicki, M. (2025, September 5). Preparing for Workforce Pell. *Community College Daily*. <a href="https://www.ccdaily.com/2025/09/preparing-for-workforce-pell/">https://www.ccdaily.com/2025/09/preparing-for-workforce-pell/</a>
- 38. Section 484(d)(2) of the Higher Education Act.
- 39. State of California, Office of Governor Gavin Newsom, "Thanks to California, Community College Students without a High School Diploma Now Eligible for Federal Financial Aid," news release, October 3, 2024, <a href="https://www.gov.ca.gov/2024/10/03/california-set-to-provide-financial-aid-to-community-college-students-who-dont-have-a-high-school-diploma/">https://www.gov.ca.gov/2024/10/03/california-set-to-provide-financial-aid-to-community-college-students-who-dont-have-a-high-school-diploma/</a>
- 40. Margaret Attridge, "New California Program Will Help Students With No High School Diploma Pay for College," BestColleges, October 21, 2024, <a href="https://www.bestcolleges.com/news/new-california-program-will-help-students-with-no-high-school-diploma-pay-for-college/">https://www.bestcolleges.com/news/new-california-program-will-help-students-with-no-high-school-diploma-pay-for-college/</a>
- 41. Career Ladders Project, "California Expands Financial Aid Access for Adults without HS Diplomas," Career Ladders Project (news release, October 30, 2024), https://careerladdersproject.org/news-item/california-expands-financial-aid-access-for-adults-without-hs-diplomas/
- 42. John Burton Advocates for Youth, *The Overlooked Obstacle: How Satisfactory Academic Progress Policies Impede Student Success and Equity* (San Francisco, July 2021), <a href="https://jbay.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Overlooked-obstacles-1.pdf">https://jbay.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Overlooked-obstacles-1.pdf</a>.
- 43. See <a href="https://www.csac.ca.gov/post/cal-grant-c-award">https://www.csac.ca.gov/post/cal-grant-c-award</a>
- 44. Legislative Analyst's Office, Evaluation of the Cal Grant C Program (Sacramento, CA: Legislative Analyst's Office, April 2019), <a href="https://www.lao.ca.gov/reports/2019/4020/cal-grant-c-043019.pdf">https://www.lao.ca.gov/reports/2019/4020/cal-grant-c-043019.pdf</a>
- 45. California Student Aid Commission, 2023-24 Cal Grant Program: New Offered Awardees (offer letters and award data, Statewide report PDF), December 2024, https://www.csac.ca.gov/sites/default/files/file-attachments/2023-24\_cal\_grant\_program\_offered\_awardees.pdf
- 46. California Student Aid Commission. (n.d.). Cal Grant income and asset ceilings. Retrieved September 10, 2025, from California Student Aid Commission website: <a href="https://www.csac.ca.gov/post/cal-grant-income-and-dra



#### asset-ceilings.

- **47.** Legislative Analyst's Office, *Evaluation of the Cal Grant C Program.*
- 48. Diane Jones and Victoria Yuen, Should the Federal Government Fund Short-Term Postsecondary Certificate Programs? (Washington, DC: Urban Institute, July 2021), <a href="https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/103370/should-the-federal-government-fund-short-term-postsecondary-certificate-programs\_0\_0.pdf">https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/103370/should-the-federal-government-fund-short-term-postsecondary-certificate-programs\_0\_0.pdf</a>.
- 49. Jobs for the Future, Workforce Development Policy Recommendations to Support Student Success and Economic Advancement (March 2024), https://info.jff.org/hubfs/Policy/240321-Policy-SE-WorkforceDevelopmentRecs-FullDesign-JA-v6.pdf
- 50. National Skills Coalition, Creating an Equitable, Resilient Workforce System: New Ideas for the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (Washington, DC, May 2023), https://nationalskillscoalition.org/wp-content/ uploads/2023/05/FinalWIOARecs.pdf
- 51. Jobs for the Future, Recommendations for a Fully Funded and Transformed Workforce Development System (March 2024), https://www.jff.org/idea/recommendations-for-a-fully-funded-and-transformed-workforce-development-system/
- 52. National Skills Coalition, A Toolkit for State
  Policymakers, Human Service Agency Leaders,
  Community Colleges, and Partners: Building State
  Career Pathways Systems (Washington, DC, December 2021), https://nationalskillscoalition.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/NSC-StateCareerPathywayToolkit-final.pdf
- 53. California Department of Social Services, Federal Fiscal Year 2025 CalFresh Employment & Training State Plan Amendment 1 (Sacramento, 2025), https://www.cdss.ca.gov/Portals/9/CalFresh/CalFresh%20ET/Annual%20Plans/FY25%20CA%20ET%20Amendment%201.pdf?ver=utoM\_rxlwMfucpgeuMG2g%3d%3d.
- 54. California Assembly, AB 123: Higher Education Budget Trailer Bill (2025–2026 Reg. Sess.), chaptered as Chapter 9, Statutes of 2025, enacted June 27, 2025.
- 55. Stacia West, Amy Castro Baker, Sukhi Samra, and Erin Coltrera, *Preliminary Analysis: SEED's First Year* (Stockton,

- CA: Stockton Economic Empowerment Demonstration, March 2021), <a href="https://static1.squarespace.com/static/6039d612b17d055cac14070f/t/6050294a1212aa40fdaf773a/1615866187890/SEED\_Preliminary+Analysis-SEEDs+First+Year\_Final+Report\_Individual+Pages+.pdf">https://static1.squarespace.com/static/6039d612b17d055cac14070f/t/6050294a1212aa40fdaf773a/1615866187890/SEED\_Preliminary+Analysis-SEEDs+First+Year\_Final+Report\_Individual+Pages+.pdf</a>.
- 56. San Francisco Office of Financial Empowerment, November 2021, "Protecting Benefits in Guaranteed Income Pilots: Lessons Learned from the Abundant Birth Project," <a href="https://sftreasurer.org/sites/default/files/2021-12/Protecting%20Benefits%20Report\_v4.4.pdf">https://sftreasurer.org/sites/default/files/2021-12/Protecting%20Benefits%20Report\_v4.4.pdf</a>
- **57.** Data provided by California Workforce Development Board September 10, 2025.
- 58. California Workforce Development Board, Programs Overview Report, submitted to the California Legislature pursuant to Assembly Bill 138, Statutes of 2021, dated October 1, 2024 (published June 2025) <a href="https://cwdb.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/43/2025/06/CWDB-Programs-Overview-Report-ACCESSIBLE-1.pdf">https://cwdb.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/43/2025/06/CWDB-Programs-Overview-Report-ACCESSIBLE-1.pdf</a>
- 59. David Fein and Samuel Dastrup, *Benefits That Last:*Long-Term Impact and Cost-Benefit Findings for Year Up
  (Washington, DC: Office of Planning, Research, and
  Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S.
  Department of Health and Human Services, April 2022),
  OPRE Report 2022-77, <a href="https://acf.gov/opre/report/benefits-last-long-term-impact-and-cost-benefit-findings-year-up">https://acf.gov/opre/report/benefits-last-long-term-impact-and-cost-benefit-findings-year-up</a>.
- 60. CalMatters, "Why California Gave \$27 Million to Help People Get Jobs," *CalMatters*, December 13, 2024, https://calmatters.org/economy/2024/12/breaking-barriers-grants/
- 61. Roder, A., & Elliott, M. (2019). *Nine-Year Gains: Project QUEST's Continuing Impact*. Economic Mobility Corporation. <a href="https://economicmobilitycorp.org/nine-year-gains-project-quests-continuing-impact/">https://economicmobilitycorp.org/nine-year-gains-project-quests-continuing-impact/</a>
- 62. Amy Castro, Stacia West, Nidhi Tandon, Briana
  Nichols, and Jesse Golinkoff. *The American Guaranteed Income Studies: Santa Fe, New Mexico.* Philadelphia:
  University of Pennsylvania, Center for Guaranteed
  Income Research, February 2025. https://static1.
  squarespace.com/static/5fdc101bc3cfda2dcf0a2244/t/67c5ce759a7a2d61ee819d23/1741016697009/
  SP2+CGIR+Santa+Fe+NM+Report.pdf



- 63. Children's Defense Fund, YNP Survey Data
  Brief (Washington, DC, May 2025), https://
  www.childrensdefense.org/wp-content/
  uploads/2025/06/20240524\_YNP\_SurveyDataBrief.pdf.
- 64. Per Scholas, Zero Percent Loan: Transforming Workforce Access (New York: Per Scholas, December 2024), https://perscholas.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/12/Zero-Percent-Loan-Transforming-Workforce-Access.pdf.
- 65. MDRC, Expanding Access to Skills Training: Final Findings from the Career Impact Bonds Study (New York, April 2025), https://www.mdrc.org/sites/default/files/2025\_Career\_Impact\_Bonds\_Final\_Report.pdf.
- 66. Lumina Foundation, Talent Investments Pay Off: White Paper: Cigna Realizes Return on Investment from Tuition Benefits, August 2017, <a href="https://www.luminafoundation.org/resource/talent-investments-pay-off/">https://www.luminafoundation.org/resource/talent-investments-pay-off/</a>.
- 67. Jonah Deutsch, Katherine Allison-Clark, and Armando Yañez, A Research Evidence Scan of Key Strategies Related to the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) (Princeton, NJ: Mathematica, July 2021), commissioned by the Chief Evaluation Office, U.S. Department of Labor, https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/OASP/evaluation/pdf/WIOA%20Portfolio%20Research%20
  Evidence%20Scan.pdf
- 68. California Employment Development Department, Workforce Services Directive WSD19-01: Incumbent Worker Training, issued July 2, 2019, revised August 27, 2019 (policy still in effect), 8 pp., <a href="https://edd.ca.gov/siteassets/files/Jobs">https://edd.ca.gov/siteassets/files/Jobs</a> and Training/pubs/wsd19-01.pdf.
- 69. Associated Press, "Walmart Offers New Perks for Workers, from a New Bonus Plan to Opportunities in Skilled Trade Jobs," *AP News*, June 2024, <a href="https://apnews.com/article/walmart-workers-wages-training-36cecdcg.ccbe419753fb84e7161f99f4">https://apnews.com/article/walmart-workers-wages-training-36cecdcg.ccbe419753fb84e7161f99f4</a>.
- 70. National Skills Coalition, "Megabill Becomes Law: Massive Cuts to Basic Needs & Infrastructure Programs – with One Win on Short Term Pell," National Skills Coalition Skills Blog, July 8, 2025, https://nationalskillscoalition. org/blog/news/megabill-becomes-law-massive-cutsto-basic-needs-infrastructure-programs-opportunitieswith-one-win-on-short-term-pell/
- 71. Association for Career and Technical Education, "A Closer Look at Reconciliation: Short-Term Pell," CTE Policy Watch, July 10, 2025, https://www.acteonline.org/blog/

- cte-policy-watch/a-closer-look-at-reconciliation-shortterm-pell/
- 72. California Student Aid Commission. (2025, July 18). The CSAC Student Success Blueprint: Achieving equity in higher education. https://www.csac.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2025-07/Final-Student-Success-Blueprint-7.18.25-SA.pdf
- **73.** California Department of Social Services, *AB 1520 Final Report*.
- 74. CA Education Code §§ 69405-69428.
- 75. California Student Aid Commission, 2023-24 Cal Grant Program: New Offered Awardees (offer letters and award data, Statewide report), published December 2024, <a href="https://www.csac.ca.gov/sites/default/files/file-attachments/2023-24\_cal\_grant\_program\_offered\_awardees.pdf">https://www.csac.ca.gov/sites/default/files/file-attachments/2023-24\_cal\_grant\_program\_offered\_awardees.pdf</a>.
- 76. California Student Aid Commission. (2025, August 14). CSAC Student Success Blueprint: Equity and supporting adult learner success. Commissioner Retreat Brief. https://csac.community.highbond.com/document/ cd18378c-dffb-46b6-8e99-456414859899/
- 77. Data provided by California Workforce Development Board September 10, 2025.
- 78. Abt Associates, Round 4 Early Outcomes Study Report, TAACCCT Evaluation (U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration), December 2020, https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/OASP/evaluation/pdf/ETA\_TAACCCT\_Round4\_Outcomes-Study-Report\_December2020.pdf and Roder and Elliott, Nine-Year Gains.
- 79. John Burton Advocates for Youths, College Costs
  Uncovered: An Examination of the Accuracy of College
  Cost of Attendance Budgets and Implications for Student
  Success (October 2024). <a href="https://jbay.org/resources/college-costs-uncovered/">https://jbay.org/resources/college-costs-uncovered/</a>
- 80. See for example, National Skills Coalition, *The Non-Degree Credential Quality Imperative: Affordability, Quality, and Equity State Investments in High Quality Credentials* (Washington, DC: National Skills Coalition, July 2023), <a href="https://nationalskillscoalition.org/resource/publications/the-non-degree-credential-quality-imperative/">https://nationalskillscoalition.org/resource/publications/the-non-degree-credential-quality-imperative/</a>.





Education, Diversity, and Growth in the Economy